## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2018

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2018

## **CONTENTS**

	PAGE
Independent Auditors' Report	1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis	3-7
Government-wide Financial Statements:	
Statement of Net Position	. 8
Statement of Activities	9
Fund Financial Statements:	
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds	10
Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to Net Position of Governmental Activities	11
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds	12
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities	13
Notes to the Financial Statements	14-24
Required Supplementary Information	
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual - General Fund	25
Notes to Required Supplementary Information	26
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards	27-28
Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance with the Requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Required by Rule 10.556 (10) of the Auditor General of the State of Florida	29
Auditor's Management Letter Required by Chapter 10.550, Florida Statutes	30-31



## DIBARTOLOMEO, McBEE, HARTLEY & BARNES, P.A.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

#### **INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT**

To the Board of Supervisors Mirada Community Development District Pasco County, Florida

#### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Mirada Community Development District, Pasco County, Florida ("District") as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

### Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

#### **Opinions**

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the District as of September 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### Other Matters

#### Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 3 - 7 and page 25 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

## Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 18, 2019, on our consideration of Mirada Community Development District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Mirada Community Development District's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

#### Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We have also issued our report dated June 18, 2019 on our consideration of the District's compliance with requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, as required by Rule 10.556(10) of the Auditor General of the State of Florida. The purpose of that report is to provide an opinion based on our examination conducted in accordance with attestation Standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A.

Fort Pierce, Florida

June 18, 2019

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS September 30, 2018

Our discussion and analysis of Mirada Community Development District, Pasco County, Florida ("District") financial performance provides an overview of the District's financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. Please read it in conjunction with the District's Independent Auditor's Report, basic financial statements, accompanying notes and supplementary information to the basic financial statements.

#### FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

- The assets of the District exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year resulting in a net position balance of (\$1,041,981).
- The change in the District's total net position was (\$1,357,185), a decrease. The key components of the District's net position and change in net position are reflected in the table in the government-wide financial analysis section.
- At September 30, 2018, the District's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of \$11,331,261. A portion of fund balance is restricted for debt service and future capital repairs and replacement, and the remainder is unassigned fund balance which is available for spending at the District's discretion.

### **OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as the introduction to the District's financial statements. The District's basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

## **Government-Wide Financial Statements**

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the District's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all the District's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS September 30, 2018

The government-wide financial statements include all governmental activities that are principally supported by special assessment revenues. The District does not have any business-type activities. The governmental activities of the District include the general government (management) and maintenance and operations.

## **Fund Financial Statements**

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The District, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The District has one fund category: governmental funds.

### **Governmental Funds**

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a District's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the District's near-term financing decisions.

Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The District maintains three individual governmental funds for external reporting. Information is presented in the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund, debt service fund and capital projects fund. All funds are major funds. The District adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison schedule has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget.

### Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS September 30, 2018

### **GOVERNMENT WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS**

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of an entity's financial position. In the case of the District, assets exceeded liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year. A portion of the District's net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, land improvements and infrastructure). These assets are used to provide services to residents; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position may be used to meet the District's other obligations.

Key components of net position were as follows:

### Statement of Net Position

	2018	2017
Current assets	\$ 14,675,720	\$ 8,966,402
Capital assets	21,415,279	 4,586,275
Total assets	36,090,999	13,552,677
Current liabilities	3,992,980	 2,572,473
Long-term liabilities	33,140,000	 10,665,000
Total liabilities	37,132,980	13,237,473
Net position		
Net invested in capital assets	(11,724,721)	(6,078,725)
Restricted for debt service	2,330,109	23,911
Restricted for capital projects	8,302,472	6,370,149
Unrestricted	50,159	 (131)
Total net position	\$ (1,041,981)	\$ 315,204

The District's net position decreased during the most recent fiscal year. The majority of the change represents the degree to which ongoing cost of operations exceeded program revenues.

Key elements of the District's change in net position are reflected in the following table:

#### Change in Net Position

	2018	 2017
Program revenues	\$ 598,616	\$ 790,316
General revenues	111,591	 1,941
Total revenues	710,207	792,257
Expenses		
General government	129,518	89,034
Interest on long-term debt	1,080,925	127,511
Cost of issuance	856,949	261,778
Total expenses	2,067,392	 478,323
Change in net position	(1,357,185)	313,934
Net position - beginning of year	315,204	 1,270
Net position - end of year	\$ (1,041,981)	\$ 315,204

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS September 30, 2018

As noted above and in the statement of activities, the cost of all governmental activities during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 was \$2,067,392, which primarily consisted of cost of issuance of long-term debt and costs associated with constructed and maintaining certain capital improvements. The costs of the District's activities were funded by developer contributions.

### GENERAL BUDGETING HIGHLIGHTS

An operating budget was adopted and maintained by the governing board for the District pursuant to the requirements of Florida Statutes. The budget is adopted using the same basis of accounting that is used in preparation of the fund financial statements. The legal level of budgetary control, the level at which expenditures may not exceed budget, is in the aggregate. Any budget amendments that increase the aggregate budgeted appropriations must be approved by the Board of Supervisors. Actual general fund expenditures did not exceed appropriations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.

The variance between budgeted and actual general fund revenues is considered significant. The actual general fund revenue and expenditures for the current fiscal year were favorable to budget due primarily to increased assessments and anticipated costs which were not incurred in the current fiscal year. Therefore, developer contributions were lower.

#### CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

### Capital Assets

At September 30, 2018, the District had \$21,415,279 invested in construction in process. Construction in process has not completed as of September 30, 2018 and therefore is not depreciated to date. Once projects are complete, items will transfer to depreciable assets. More detailed information about the District's capital assets is presented in the notes of the financial statements.

## Capital Debt

At September 30, 2018, the District had \$33,140,000 Bonds outstanding for its governmental activities. More detailed information about the District's capital debt is presented in the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

## ECONOMIC FACTORS, NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND OTHER INFORMATION

For the fiscal year 2019, the District anticipates that the cost of general operations will remain fairly constant. In connection with the District's future infrastructure maintenance and replacement plan, the District Board has included in the budget, an estimate of those anticipated future costs and has assigned a portion of current available resources for that purpose.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS September 30, 2018

## CONTACTING THE DISTRICT'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, land owners, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview of the District's finances and to demonstrate the District's accountability for the financial resources it manages and the stewardship of the facilities it maintains. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Mirada Community Development District's Finance Department at 250 International Parkway, Suite 280, Lake Mary, FL 32746.

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION September 30, 2018

	GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES	
ASSETS		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	51,895
Due from developer		287,126
Restricted Assets:		
Investments		14,336,699
Capital assets:		
Non-depreciable		21,415,279
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	36,090,999
LIABILITIES		
Accounts payable	\$	3,344,459
Accrued interest payable		648,521
Bonds payable, due in more than one year		33,140,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES		37,132,980
NET POSITION		
Net investment in capital assets	,	(11,724,721)
Restricted for:		
Debt service		2,330,109
Capital projects		8,302,472
Unrestricted	<u> </u>	50,159
TOTAL NET POSITION	\$	(1,041,981)

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES Year Ended September 30, 2018

				Program l	Reven	ues	R	et (Expense) evenues and nanges in Net Position
			C	narges for		Operating	G	overnmental
Functions/Programs		Expenses	3	Services	Co	ntributions		Activities
Governmental activities								•
General government	\$	129,518	\$	-	\$	486,454	\$	356,936
Physical environment		-		112,162		-		112,162
Interest on long-term debt		1,080,925		-		-		(1,080,925)
Cost of issuance		856,949		-		_		(856,949)
Total governmental activities		2,067,392	\$	112,162	\$	486,454		(1,468,776)
General revenues:								
		vestment earni	_					111,457
		iscellaneous in					_	134
	Total general revenues					111,591		
	Change in net position							(1,357,185)
	Net position - October 1, 2017						315,204	
	Net	position - Sep	tembe	er 30, 2018			\$	(1,041,981)

BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS September 30, 2018

		TOTAL		
		DEBT CAPITAL		GOVERNMENTAL
A CONTINUO	GENERAL	SERVICE	PROJECTS	FUNDS
<u>ASSETS</u>				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 51,895	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 51,895
Due from developer	-	-	287,126	287,126
Restricted Assets:				
Investments		2,978,630	11,358,069	14,336,699
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 51,895	\$ 2,978,630	\$ 11,645,195	\$ 14,675,720
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES				
LIABILITIES				
Accounts payable	\$ 1,736	\$ -	\$ 3,342,723	\$ 3,344,459
TOTAL LIABILITIES	1,736	_	3,342,723	3,344,459
FUND BALANCES				
Restricted for:				
Debt service	-	2,978,630	-	2,978,630
Capital projects	-	-	8,302,472	8,302,472
Unassigned	50,159			50,159
TOTAL FUND BALANCES	50,159	2,978,630	8,302,472	11,331,261
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND				
FUND BALANCES	\$ 51,895	\$ 2,978,630	\$ 11,645,195	\$ 14,675,720

## RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES September 30, 2018

Total Governmental Fund Balances in the Balance Sheet, Page 10

\$ 11,331,261

Amount reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets are different because:

Capital asset used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:

Governmental capital assets

21,415,279

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds:

Accrued interest payable (648,521)Unamortized bond discount 530,000 Governmental bonds payable (33,670,000)\$ (1,041,981)

Net Position of Governmental Activities, Page 8

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS Year Ended September 30, 2018

	MAJOR FUNDS						TOTAL	
					CAPITAL	GO	VERNMENTAL	
TO BOX FIRST TIPLES	<u>G</u>	ENERAL	DEBT SERVICE PROJECTS			FUNDS		
REVENUES  Development and invitions	Φ	67.50B	<b>ው</b>	Φ.	410.046	Φ	406.454	
Developer contributions	\$	67,508	\$ -	\$	418,946	\$	486,454	
Special assessments		112,162	-		-		112,162	
Miscellaneous revenue		134	- 11544		-		134	
Investment earnings		6	11,544		99,907		111,457	
TOTAL REVENUES		179,810	11,544		518,853		710,207	
EXPENDITURES								
General government		129,518	*		_		129,518	
Bond issuance costs		-	1,386,949		-		1,386,949	
Capital outlay		-	, <u></u>		16,829,004		16,829,004	
Debt							,	
Principal		-	10,665,000		-		10,665,000	
Interest expense		-	559,912		-		559,912	
TOTAL EXPENDITURES		129,518	12,611,861		16,829,004		29,570,383	
EXCESS REVENUES OVER								
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES		50,292	(12,600,317)	(	(16,310,151)		(28,860,176)	
OTHER SOURCES (USES)								
Transfers in (out)		-	1,093,222		(1,093,222)		-	
Issuance of debt		_	14,334,303	_	19,335,697		33,670,000	
TOTAL OTHER SOURCES (USES)		-	15,427,525		18,242,475		33,670,000	
EXCESS REVENUES OVER								
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES		50,292	2,827,208		1,932,324		4,809,824	
		30,292	2,827,208		1,932,324		4,609,624	
FUND BALANCE								
Beginning of year		(133)	151,422		6,370,148		6,521,437	
End of year	\$	50,159	\$ 2,978,630	<u>\$</u>	8,302,472	_\$_	11,331,261	

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES Year Ended September 30, 2018

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds, Page 12	\$ 4,809,824
Amount reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:	
The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds. These transactions, however, have no effect on net assets. This is the amount of long-term debt issued in the current period.  Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,	(33,140,000)
in the Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives:	
Capital outlay	16,829,004
Certain items reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported expenditures in the governmental funds:	
Change in accrued interest payable	(521,013)
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities, Page 9	\$ (1,357,185)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

#### NOTE A- NATURE OF ORGANIZATION AND REPORTING ENTITY

Mirada of Pasco County Community Development District ("District") was established on April 26, 2016 by Pasco County Ordinance 2016-07 pursuant to the Uniform Development District Act of 1980, otherwise known as Chapter 190, Florida Statutes. The Act provides among other things, the power to manage basic services for community development, power to borrow money and issue bonds, and to levy and assess non-ad valorem assessments for the financing and delivery of capital infrastructure.

The District was established for the purposes of financing and managing the acquisition, construction, maintenance and operation of a portion of the infrastructure necessary for community development within the District.

The District is governed by the Board of Supervisors ("Board"), which is composed of five members. All of the Board members are affiliated with the Developer. The Supervisors are elected on an at large basis by the qualified electors of the property owners within the District. The Board of Supervisors of the District exercise all powers granted to the District pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes.

The Board has the responsibility for:

- 1. Assessing and levying assessments.
- 2. Approving budgets.
- 3. Exercising control over facilities and properties.
- 4. Controlling the use of funds generated by the District.
- 5. Approving the hiring and firing of key personnel.
- 6. Financing Improvements.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement 14, and Statement 39, an amendment of GASB Statement 14. Under the provisions of those standards, the financial reporting entity consists of the primary government, organizations for which the District Board of Supervisors is considered to be financially accountable, and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the District are such that, if excluded, the financial statements of the District would be considered incomplete or misleading. There are no entities considered to be component units of the District; therefore, the financial statements include only the operations of the District.

#### NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

### Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund financial statements. The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment. Operating-type special assessments for maintenance and debt service are treated as charges for services and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Other Items not included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

## Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Assessments are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are to be recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the economic financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.

Expenditures are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.

### Assessments

Assessments are non-ad valorem assessments on benefited lands within the District. Assessments are levied to pay for the operations and maintenance of the District. The fiscal year for which annual assessments are levied begins on October 1 with discounts available for payments through February 28 and become delinquent on April 1. The District's annual assessments for operations are billed and collected by the County Tax Collector. The amounts remitted to the District are net of applicable discounts or fees and include interest on monies held from the day of collection to the day of distribution.

Assessments and interest associated with the current fiscal period are considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. The portion of assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation (continued)

The District reports the following major governmental fund:

### General Fund

The general fund is the general operating fund of the District. It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted resources first for qualifying expenditures, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

### Debt Service Fund

The debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for the annual payment of principal and interest of long-term debt.

## Capital Projects Fund

The capital projects fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major infrastructure with the District.

## Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity

### Restricted Assets

These assets represent cash and investments set aside pursuant to contractual restrictions.

#### Deposits and Investments

The District's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand and demand deposits (interest and non-interest bearing).

The District has elected to proceed under the Alternative Investment Guidelines as set forth in Section 218.415 (17) Florida Statutes. The District may invest any surplus public funds in the following:

a) The Local Government Surplus Trust Funds, or any intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act;

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity (continued)

## Deposits and Investments (continued)

- b) Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency;
- c) Interest bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories;
- d) Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury.

Securities listed in paragraph c and d shall be invested to provide sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. In addition, surplus funds may be deposited into certificates of deposit which are insured.

The District records all interest revenue related to investment activities in the respective funds and reports investments at fair value.

## Inventories and Prepaid Items

Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

### Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, sidewalks and similar items) are reported in the government activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than \$5,000 (amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity (continued)

## Capital Assets (continued)

Property, plant and equipment of the District are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

<u>Assets</u>	<u>Years</u>
Infrastructure	20 - 40
Improvements	10 - 20

In the governmental fund financial statements, amounts incurred for the acquisition of capital assets are reported as fund expenditures. Depreciation expense is not reported in the governmental fund financial statements.

### Unearned Revenue

Governmental funds report unearned revenue in connection with resources that have been received, but not yet earned.

## Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the Bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of applicable premiums or discounts. Bond issuance costs are expensed when incurred.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

### Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

The statement of net position reports, as applicable, a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to future reporting period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that time. For example, the District would record deferred outflows of resources related to debit amounts resulting from current and advance refundings resulting in the defeasance of debt (i.e. when there are differences between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity (continued)

## Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (continued)

The statement of net position reports, as applicable, a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to future reporting period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For example, when an asset is recorded in the governmental fund financial statements, but the revenue is not available, the District reports a deferred inflow of resources until such times as the revenue becomes available.

## Fund Equity/Net Position

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report non spendable and restricted fund balance for amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for use for a specific purpose. Assignments of fund balance represent tentative management plans that are subject to change.

Committed fund balance - Amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal action (resolution) of the Board of Supervisors. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Board of Supervisors taking the same formal action (resolution) that imposed the constraint originally. Resources accumulated pursuant to stabilization arrangements sometimes are reported in this category.

Assigned fund balance - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are neither considered restricted nor committed. The Board can assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover differences in estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year's appropriated budget. Assignments are generally temporary and normally the same formal action need not be taken to remove the assignment.

The District first uses committed fund balance, followed by assigned fund balance and then unassigned fund balance when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Net position is the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net position in the government-wide financial statements are categorized as net investment in capital assets, restricted or unrestricted. Net investment in capital assets represents net position related to infrastructure and property, plant and equipment. Restricted net position represents the assets restricted by the District's Bond covenants or other contractual restrictions. Unrestricted net position consists of the net position not meeting the definition of either of the other two components.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## Other Disclosures

### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### NOTE C - BUDGETARY INFORMATION

The District is required to establish a budgetary system and an approved Annual Budget. Annual Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the general fund. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year end.

The District follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements.

- a) Each year the District Manager submits to the District Board a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following October 1.
- b) Public hearings are conducted to obtain public comments.
- c) Prior to October 1, the budget is legally adopted by the District Board.
- d) All budget changes must be approved by the District Board.
- e) The budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.
- f) Unused appropriation for annually budgeted funds lapse at the end of the year.

### NOTE D – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

## **Deposits**

The District's cash balances, including certificates of deposit, were entirely covered by federal depository insurance or by a collateral pool pledged to the State Treasurer. Florida Statutes Chapter 280, "Florida Security for Public Deposits Act", requires all qualified depositories to deposit with the Treasurer or another banking institution eligible collateral equal to various percentages of the average daily balance for each month of all public deposits in excess of any applicable deposit insurance held. The percentage of eligible collateral (generally, U.S. Governmental and agency securities, state or local government debt, or corporate bonds) to public deposits is dependent upon the depository's financial history and its compliance with Chapter 280. In the event of a failure of a qualified public depository, the remaining public depositories would be responsible for covering any resulting losses.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## NOTE D – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### **Investments**

The District's investments were held as follows at September 30, 2018:

Investment	Fair Value	Credit Risk	Maturities
Money Market Mutual Funds - First			Weighted average of the
American Treasury Obligation CL Y	\$ 14,336,699	S&P AAAm	fund portfolio: 34 days
Total Investments	\$ 14,336,699		

Custodial credit risk - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the District will not be able to recover the value of the investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The District has no formal policy for custodial risk. The investments listed in the schedule above are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

Credit risk - For investments, credit risk is generally the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Investment ratings by investment type are included in the preceding summary of investments.

Concentration risk - The District places no limit on the amount the District may invest in anyone issuer.

Interest rate risk - The District does not have a formal policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Fair Value Measurement - When applicable, the District measures and records its investments using fair value measurement guidelines established in accordance with GASB Statements. The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques.

These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, in order of highest priority, as follows:

- Level 1: Investments whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical investments in active markets that the District has the ability to access;
- Level 2: Investments whose inputs other than quoted market prices are observable either directly or indirectly; and,
- Level 3: Investments whose inputs are unobservable.

The fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

#### **NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSETS**

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 was as follows:

	Balance 10/01/2017	Increases	Dec	reases	Balance 09/30/2018
Governmental activities:					
Capital assets, not being depreciated:					
Construction in process	\$ 4,586,275	\$ 16,829,004	\$		\$ 21,415,279
Total capital assets, not being					
depreciated	4,586,275	16,829,004			21,415,279
Governmental activities capital					
assets - net	\$ 4,586,275	\$ 16,829,004	\$	-	\$ 21,415,279

There was no depreciation expense recorded as of September 30, 2018.

### NOTE F – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

\$10,665,000 Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017 – On July 19, 2017, the District issued \$10,665,000 in Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017. The Bond Anticipation Notes were issued for the purpose of financing the cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements, paying the cost of issuance, and making deposit to the reserve account. The Bond Anticipation Notes bear interest at 6% payable November 2018. The District has covenanted to pursue Take-Out Bonds in an amount to pay the principal of and any interest prior to maturity date of to issue another series of bond anticipation notes. The Series 2017 Bond Anticipation Notes were paid off during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. Accordingly, the Series 2017 Bond Anticipation notes are no longer outstanding.

**§9,490,000** Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-1 — On May 17, 2018, the District issued \$9,490,000 in Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-1. The Bonds were issued to payoff the Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017, for the purpose of financing the cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements, paying the cost of issuance, and making deposit to the reserve account. The Bonds are payable in annual principal installments through November 2048. The Bonds bear interest ranging from 5.0% to 5.625% payable semi-annually on the first day of each May and November. Principal is due serially each November 1, commencing November 2019.

\$14,620,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-2 (Area One) — On May 17, 2018, the District issued \$14,620,000 in Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-2 (Area One). The Bonds were issued to payoff the Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017, for the purpose of financing the cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements, paying the cost of issuance, and making deposit to the reserve account. The Bonds are payable November 2035. The Bonds bear interest at 5.625% payable semi-annually on the first day of each May and November. Principal is due November 2035.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

## **NOTE F – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)**

**\$9,560,000** Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-2 (Area Two) — On May 17, 2018, the District issued \$9,560,000 in Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A-2 (Area Two). The Bonds were issued to payoff the Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017, for the purpose of financing the cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements, paying the cost of issuance, and making deposit to the reserve account. The Bonds are payable November 2029. The Bonds bear interest at 5.375% payable semi-annually on the first day of each May and November. Principal is due November 2029.

The following is a summary of activity in the long-term debt of the District for the year ended September 30, 2018:

					Due
	Balance			Balance	Within One
	10/1/2017	Additions	Deletions 9/30/2018		Year
Bond Anticipation					
Notes, Series 2017	\$ 10,665,000	\$ -	\$ 10,665,000	\$ -	\$ -
Capital Improvement					
Reveune Bonds, Series					
2018A-1		9,490,000	-	9,490,000	-
Capital Improvement					
Reveune Bonds, Series					
2018A-2 (Area One)	-	14,620,000	-	14,620,000	-
Capital Improvement					
Reveune Bonds, Series					
2018A-2 (Area Two)	-	9,560,000		9,560,000	
	10,665,000	33,670,000	10,665,000	33,670,000	-
Unamortized bond					
discount		(530,000)	_	(530,000)	-
	\$ 10,665,000	\$ 33,140,000	\$ 10,665,000	\$ 33,140,000	\$ -

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS September 30, 2018

### NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The annual requirements to amortize the principal and interest of bonded debt outstanding as of September 30, 2018 are as follows:

September 30,	Principal	Interest	Total	
2019	\$ -	\$ 1,709,627	\$ 1,709,627	
2020	135,000	1,856,037	1,991,037	
2021	140,000	1,849,163	1,989,163	
2022	150,000	1,841,912	1,991,912	
2023	155,000	1,834,287	1,989,287	
2024-2028	910,000	9,042,563	9,952,563	
2029-2033	10,730,000	6,974,494	17,704,494	
2034-2038	16,155,000	3,770,297	19,925,297	
2039-2043	2,015,000	1,218,516	3,233,516	
2044-2048	2,655,000	565,453	3,220,453	
2049	625,000	17,578	642,578	
	\$33,670,000	\$ 30,679,927	\$ 64,349,927	

#### **NOTE G - MANAGEMENT COMPANY**

The District has contracted with a management company to perform services which include financial and accounting advisory services. Certain employees of the management company also serve as officers of the District. Under the agreement, the District compensates the management company for management, accounting, financial reporting, computer and other administrative costs.

### **NOTE H – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS**

Management has performed an analysis of the activities and transactions subsequent to September 30, 2018, to determine the need for any adjustments to and/or disclosures within the audited financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2018. Management has performed their analysis through June 18, 2019, the audit completion date.

#### **NOTE I - RISK MANAGEMENT**

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; natural disasters; and environmental remediation. The District has obtained commercial insurance from independent third parties to mitigate the costs of these risks; coverage may not extend to all situations. Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage over the past three years.

#### NOTE J - CONCENTRATION

The Districts activity is dependent upon the continued involvement of the Developer, the loss of which could have a material adverse effect on the District operations.

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES BUDGET AND ACTUAL – GENERAL FUND Year Ended September 30, 2018

REVENUES	ORIGINAL BUDGET	FINAL BUDGET	ACTUAL	VARIANCE WITH FINAL BUDGET POSITIVE (NEGATIVE)
Developer contributions	\$ 362,105	\$ 139,183	\$ 67,508	\$ (71,675)
Special assessments	Ψ 502,105	ψ 137,105 -	112,162	112,162
Miscellaneous revenue	_	_	134	134
Investment earnings	-	-	6	6
TOTAL REVENUES	362,105	139,183	179,810	40,627
EXPENDITURES Current				
General government	116,523	133,659	129,518	4,141
Physical environment	245,582	5,524	<u> </u>	5,524
TOTAL EXPENDITURES	362,105	139,183	129,518	9,665
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES	\$ -	\$ -	50,292	\$ 50,292
FUND BALANCES				
Beginning of year			(133)	
End of year			\$ 50,159	

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

The District is required to establish a budgetary system and an approved Annual Budget for the general fund. The District's budgeting process is based on estimates of cash receipts and cash expenditures which are approved by the Board. The budget approximates a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (generally accepted accounting principles).

An operating budget was adopted and maintained by the governing board for the District pursuant to the requirements of Florida Statutes, The budget is adopted using the same basis of accounting that is used in preparation of the fund financial statements, The legal level of budgetary control, the level at which expenditures may not exceed budget, is in the aggregate. Any budget amendments that increase the aggregate budgeted appropriations must be approved by the Board of Supervisors, Actual general fund expenditures did not exceed appropriations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.

The variance between budgeted and actual general fund revenues is considered significant. The actual general fund revenue and expenditures for the current fiscal year were favorable to budget due primarily to increased assessments and anticipated costs which were not incurred in the current fiscal year. Therefore, developer contributions were lower.



## DIBARTOLOMEO, McBEE, HARTLEY & BARNES, P.A.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Supervisors Mirada Community Development District Pasco County, Florida

We have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Mirada Community Development District, as of September 30, 2018 and for the year ended September 30, 2018, which collectively comprise Mirada Community Development District's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated June 18, 2019.

## Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the District's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

## Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

## Purpose of this Report

This report is intended solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

DiBartolomes, U.Bu, Hostly: Barres

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. Fort Pierce, Florida June 18, 2019



## DIBARTOLOMEO, McBEE, HARTLEY & BARNES, P.A.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, REQUIRED BY RULE 10.556(10) OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

To the Board of Supervisors Mirada Community Development District Pasco County, Florida

We have examined the District's compliance with the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes with regards to the District's investments during the year ended September 30, 2018. Management is responsible for the District's compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the District's compliance based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence about the District's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the District's compliance with specified requirements.

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the year ended September 30, 2018.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, management, and the Board of Supervisors of Mirada Community Development District, Pasco County, Florida and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

DiBartolomeo, McBee Hartley & Barnes, P.A. Fort Pierce, Florida
June 18, 2019

## DIBARTOLOMEO, McBEE, HARTLEY & BARNES, P.A.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

## Management Letter

To the Board of Supervisors Mirada Community Development District Pasco County, Florida

## Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Mirada Community Development District as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated June 18, 2019.

## Auditor's Responsibility

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.

## Other Reports and Schedule

We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*; and Independent Accountant's Report on an examination conducted in accordance with *AICPA Professional Standards*, Section 601, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated June 18, 2019, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter.

### **Prior Audit Findings**

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report. Initial year audit, there were no findings in the prior year.

### Official Title and Legal Authority

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Refer to Note A in the notes to the financial statements.